STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF CRAIG ALLEN CARROLL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000972

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUN 27 2018
SC Court of Appeals

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, where in order to commit Appellant as a sexually violent predator ("SVP"), the State relied on the diagnosis of biastophilia, a disorder not listed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 10 and 12, 2017, Craig Allen Carroll appeared before the Honorable Kristi Harrington and a jury for a trial under the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-10, *et seq.* Carroll was represented by James K. Falk, and the State was represented by James G. Bogle, Jr. R. 2.

The jury heard testimony from the court-appointed evaluator, Dr. Marie Gehle; Carroll; and Carroll's mother, Lisa O'Connell. The State introduced a certified copy of an indictment against Carroll for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 106, l. 12 – R. 107, l. 7; R. 259-260. According to the sentencing sheet, Carroll was convicted in Berkeley County on August 14, 2014. Id.

The jury concluded that Carroll was a sexually violent predator. R. 255, l. 22 – R. 256, l. 9. Judge Harrington ordered Carroll be committed to the Department of Mental Health for his long-term control, care, and treatment.

Carroll filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Court-Appointed Expert Dr. Marie Gehle

Beginning in 2001, Dr. Gehle transitioned to a new job and “started doing solely pre commitment evaluations to determine whether somebody meets the criteria of a sexually violent predator.” R. 84, ll. 12 – 16. For Carroll’s trial, she was qualified as an expert witness “in the area of forensic psychology to give opinion testimony in that area.” R. 87, ll. 9 – 14. Dr. Gehle was “appointed by the Court to be the evaluator and to give an opinion as to whether Mr. Carroll meets the criteria of a sexually violent predator.” R. 87, ll. 19 – 24.

According to Dr. Gehle, in order for somebody to meet the definition of a sexually violent predator, “they have to be convicted of a qualifying sexually violent offense, they have to have a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes them likely to commit acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.” R. 133, l. 17 – R. 134, l. 3.

Dr. Gehle interviewed Carroll for four and a half hours. R. 89, l. 21 – R. 90, l. 3. She diagnosed him with antisocial personality disorder. R. 93, ll. 4 – 6. According to Dr. Gehle, the diagnostic criteria for antisocial personality disorder include:

[A] pervasive pattern, and disregard for, and violation of the rights of others occurring since age 15 years as indicated by three or more of the following

[F]ailure to conform to social norms with respect to lawful behaviors as indicated by repeatedly performing acts that are grounds for arrest.

Number two is deceitfulness as indicated by repeated lying, use of aliases, or conning others for personal profit or pleasure.

Number three is impulsivity or failure to plan ahead.

Number four is irritability and aggressiveness as indicated by repeated physical fights or assaults.

Number five is reckless disregard for safety of self or others.

Number six is consistent irresponsibility as indicated by repeated failure to sustain consistent work behavior or honor financial obligations.

Number seven is lack of remorse as indicated by being indifferent to or rationalizing having hurt, mistreated, or [stolen] from another.

So those are the seven criteria there.

R. 93, l. 21 – R. 94, l. 23.

Dr. Gehle listed a few additional requirements from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders (DSM), including age. R. 94, l. 23 – R. 95, l. 9. She went through Carroll's criminal history and compared various incidents to the above criteria. When asked about his past conduct, Carroll admitted that he was "a pretty bad kid, that he had a lot of behavior problems." R. 104, l. 21 – R. 105, l. 16.

Dr. Gehle also diagnosed Carroll with "other specified paraphilic disorder biastophilia," an alleged mental abnormality. R. 115, l. 17 – R. 117, l. 8. Biastophilia was defined as "sexual arousal towards engaging in sexual acts with nonconsenting persons." R. 117, ll. 5 – 8. Dr. Gehle indicated that she could not diagnose Carroll with a pedophile disorder, because the majority of his behavior which she believed to have qualified for that diagnosis occurred before he turned sixteen years old. R. 117, l. 9 – R. 118, l. 6. Therefore, she relied on a disorder not listed in the DSM.

"Other specified paraphilic disorder, biastophilia" is not listed in the DSM. R. 119, ll. 5 – 17. Only "seven or eight" paraphilias are listed. R. 120, ll. 14 – 16. When asked how she could diagnose a disorder that was not in the book, she replied: "[T]here are hundreds of paraphilias.

Like I said, a paraphilia is really anything that is outside of what is considered normal sexual behavior. So it's anything that is deviant, deviating from normal." R. 119, ll. 18 – 24.

In order to measure Carroll's likelihood of re-offending, Dr. Gehle relied on the Static 99R, an "actuarial risk assessment." R. 122, ll. 17 – 22. According to Dr. Gehle, the scores range from negative three to twelve, but "the scores really top out at eight." R. 125, ll. 6 – 12. Carroll scored a seven. R. 125, ll. 13 – 15. Dr. Gehle claimed that Carroll, therefore, is considered "high risk." R. 125, ll. 16 – 23. She testified that twenty-seven percent of people with a score of seven re-offend within five years. Id.

Dr. Gehle concluded her direct examination by reiterating that she diagnosed Carroll with both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. R. 128, ll. 6 – 25. As a result, she alleged, Carroll is predisposed "to commit acts of sexual violence if he's not confined to long-term control, care, and treatment." R. 129, ll. 1 – 13. Additionally, she claimed that "he's dangerous and likely to commit future sex offenses if he's not confined to long-term control, care, and treatment." R. 129, ll. 14 – 23. She also stated that the propensity which she established also poses a "menace" to the health and safety of others, and that Carroll has "significant difficulty" controlling his behavior. R. 129, l. 24 – R. 130, l. 11. As a result, she opined that Carroll meets the definition of a sexually violent predator. R. 131, l. 20 – R. 132, l. 1.

Craig Carroll

After the State rested, Carroll took the stand. He denied having sex with sleeping people; he explained to the jury, just as he explained to Dr. Gehle, that he woke his partners up to have sex. R. 175, l. 20 – R. 176, l. 11. He completely denied being sexually aroused to having sex with people who are asleep:

I stated [to Dr. Gehle] that I had woken my partners up to sex, not that I had sex with them while they were asleep. That never happened.

I'm pretty sure that anybody would be offended by that kind of behavior. I don't think anybody would allow me to do that and not cause some type of a rift in our relationship. So that's not what happened. What happened is, I woke them up and we proceed to have consensual sexual intercourse.

R. 175, l. 20 – R. 176, l. 11.

Carroll's mother, Lisa O'Connell, indicated that Carroll would be able to live with her in the event that he was released. R. 192, ll. 7 – 20. Carroll would be able to work with his uncle, hanging drywall. Id. She would be able to help him with money and transportation to counseling. R. 193, ll. 3 – 19.

The trial court allowed Counsel to reserve "all motions and matters" after the State rested, so the directed verdict motion was made after Carroll's mother testified.. R. 171, ll. 17 – 20; R. 200 ll. 3 – 5. Counsel sought a directed verdict because the State failed to prove that Carroll suffered from a mental disease or defect, largely due in part to Dr. Gehle's reliance on a disorder that is not listed in the DSM. R. 200, ll. 6 – 15.

The trial court denied Counsel's motion. R. 201, l. 14 – R. 203, l. 16.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, where in order to commit Appellant as a sexually violent predator ("SVP"), the State relied on the diagnosis of biastophilia, a disorder not listed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders.

A civil proceeding to commit an individual, perhaps for life, following service of his criminal sentence, is an extraordinary remedy. In re Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 23, 774 S.E.2d 462, 466 (2015).

An expert's opinion must be reliable. Graves v. CAS Medical Systems, Inc., 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012); see also Rule 702, SCRE. Expert testimony is "also subject to attack for relevancy and prejudice." State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19-20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517-18 (1999). Trial judges must determine whether Rule 403, SCRE, bars admission of the expert's testimony. Id. at 20, 515 S.E.2d at 518; State v. Slocumb, 336 S.C. 619, 627, 521 S.E.2d 507, 511 (1999) ("Even if admissible under Rule 703, [SCRE] or Rule 705, [SCRE,] however, the determination of whether an expert may testify to the facts underlying an opinion must include an analysis under Rule 403, SCRE.").

On cross-examination, Counsel for Carroll asked Dr. Gehle to read from a portion of the DSM that indicated the criteria used by the book's editors for listing paraphilic disorders:

These disorders have traditionally been selected for specific listing and assignment of explicit diagnostic criteria in [the] DSM for two main reasons. They are relatively common in relation to other paraphilic disorders and some of them entail actions for their satisfaction that because of their noxiousness or potential harm to others are classed as criminal offenses."

R. 142, l. 8 – R. 144, l. 5.

Dr. Gehle agreed with the assessment that the DSM offered two main factors used to determine which paraphilic disorders were listed: commonality and the risk of harm to other people. R. 144, ll. 11 – 17. Following the eight paraphilic disorders that are outright listed, the DSM names two others: “[o]ther specified paraphilic disorder and unspecified paraphilic disorder.” R. 144, l. 18 – R. 145, l. 10.

Dr. Gehle agreed with the assertion that biastophilia was neither defined nor listed in the fifth edition of the DSM. R. 151, l. 16 – R. 152, l. 1. None of the categorical definitions or examples specifically discussed biastophilia. R. 153, l. 4 – R. 155, l. 20. Dr. Gehle admitted that she was unable to quantify her diagnosis of biastophilia. R. 156, l. 15 – R. 158, l. 16.

Rule 702, SCRE, provides: “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” In State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), our Supreme Court held that “[w]hen admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” “Reliability is a central feature of Rule 702 admissibility, and our jurisprudence is in complete accord.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009).

In State v. White, our Supreme Court made clear that “[t]he familiar tenet of evidence law that a continuing challenge to evidence goes to ‘weight, not admissibility’ has never been intended to supplant the gatekeeping role of the trial court in the first instance in assessing the admissibility of expert testimony, including the threshold determination of reliability.” 382 S.C. at 273, 676 S.E.2d at 688. Thus, the Court ruled that both scientific and nonscientific expert

testimony must satisfy Rule 702, SCRE, both in terms of expert qualifications and reliability of the subject matter. Id. However, the Court recognized that “the foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach” and did not provide a “formulaic approach” to be followed in determining the reliability of non-scientific expert testimony. Id. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 688-89.

In Jamison v. Morris, 385 S.C. 215, 219, 684 S.E.2d 168, 170-71 (2009), our Supreme Court reversed a civil verdict of negligence against one of the co-defendants, MiniMart, finding that the trial court erroneously admitted expert testimony predicated on unreliable evidence. Minimart was alleged to have sold alcohol to the underage driver of a vehicle that was in a single-car accident that rendered the passenger, Louis Jamison, a quadriplegic. 385 S.C. at 219, 684 S.E.2d at 170. The trial judge allowed the State’s expert to give testimony of the driver’s blood alcohol level at the time of the crash based upon a SLED test that was unreliable due to the absence of a chain of custody. Id. at 226-29, 684 S.E.2d at 173-75. The Jamison Court ruled that “an expert cannot testify to an opinion predicated on an unreliable test.” Id. at 228, 684 S.E.2d at 175.

Rule 703, SCRE, provides: “The facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing. If of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, the facts or data need not be admissible in evidence.” It certainly cannot be reasonable for an expert to rely upon erroneous and incomplete information in forming his opinions or inferences.

Dr. Gehle’s diagnosis is impossible to critique. Since there is no listed definition in the DSM, each evaluator in the SVP program intuitively arrives at a diagnosis based on a subjective

host of factors. Jurors in Carroll's case who were confronted with the diagnosis of biastophilia were forced to assess the accuracy, reliability, and validity of Dr. Gehle's subjective diagnosis with no agreed upon definition for other specified paraphilic disorder biastophilia. There was no way to evaluate Dr. Gehle's expert opinion against objectively accepted criteria sets approved by the American Psychiatric Association, the group which publishes the DSM.