ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County  
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000972

RECEIVED  
JUN 22 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Craig Allen Carroll,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County  
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

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

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because there was ample relevant evidence in the record to support sending the case to the jury.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because Dr. Gehle's diagnosis of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder - Biastophilia is unreliable because biastophilia is not in the DSM-5, and as a result, the State failed to prove a mental abnormality beyond a reasonable doubt. As a threshold matter, the reliability of a biastophilia diagnosis under the Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder umbrella in the DSM-V is not preserved for appeal. Further, Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder is expressly recognized in the DSM-5, Dr. Gehle diagnosed Appellant with both biastophilia and antisocial personality disorder, and her testimony sufficiently linked Appellant's diagnosed paraphilic and personality disorders to his risk to commit future acts of sexual violence as a basis for commitment.

### **A. Standard of Review**

The circuit court must deny a motion for a directed verdict if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference, or its inference is in doubt. Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC, 415 S.C. 321, 781 S.E.2d 737, 741 (Ct. App. 2015) (*citing* Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 [1994]). When ruling on a directed verdict motion, the circuit court may not weigh the evidence, but is concerned only with its existence or nonexistence, and must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. State v. Larmand, 415 S.C. 23, 780 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2015). On appeal, the appellate courts must apply the same standard as the circuit court. *Id.*

### **B. Issue Preservation**

South Carolina law requires a party to raise an issue and obtain a ruling from the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review. State v. Cain, 419 S.C. 24, 795 S.E.2d 846, 851

(2017); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (same). Further, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court with **sufficient specificity** to bring into focus the **precise** nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the court. State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 807 S.E.2d 710, 714 (Ct. App. 2017); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. “A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003); State v. Rose, \_\_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_\_, 2018 WL 1734534 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018) (same).

At trial, Petitioner never moved to exclude or restrict Dr. Gehle’s testimony regarding biastophilia on the ground it was unreliable, either before trial or during her testimony. On appeal, however, as indicated by his references to admissibility under Rules 702 and 703, SCRE, and references to the circuit court’s gatekeeper function regarding admission of evidence, he essentially argues the circuit court should have ruled the diagnosis was unreliable at the directed verdict stage, given it no weight, and then granted the directed verdict motion.<sup>1</sup>

After Dr. Gehle testified on direct examination about the biastophilia diagnosis, and after Appellant vigorously cross-examined her regarding the diagnosis and the basis for her opinion, Appellant did not move to strike her testimony regarding biastophilia as unreliable. Rather, waiting until the directed verdict stage, Appellant merely argued the State failed to prove “[Appellant] suffers from a mental disease or defect,” because “the diagnosis of biastophilia being not found in the DSM4 (sic) is indicative of the fact that it is not a recognized mental disease or defect.” (TT, p. 200; R., pp. 200).

In denying the directed verdict motion, the circuit court found:

---

<sup>1</sup>Appellant chooses to ignore the antisocial personality disorder diagnosis, which was never challenged and provided another basis for Dr. Gehle’s ultimate opinion.

The State has introduced a certified copy of the defendant respondent's prior conviction for a criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, admitted it without objection. Dr. Gehle testified that - - testified that she had reviewed this conviction in creating her report. The mental abnormality that can cause someone to commit acts of sexual violence or disorders over a period of at least six months and result in a problem - - sorry, indicated that she diagnosed [Appellant] with Other Specified Paraphilic Disorders (sic), biastophilia.

Based upon the tests administered to [Appellant], his score of seven indicated that he is at a high risk to reoffend, and out of those who scored a seven, 27.2 percent re-offended within five years based upon the research examined by Dr. Gehle. [Appellant], according to the testimony, is 5.25.times more likely to re-offend compared to the average sex offender. She also found that [Appellant] has dynamic risk factors.

To a reasonable degree of psychological certainty, Dr. Gehle is of the opinion that [Appellant] suffers from both a mental abnormality, Other Specified Paraphilic Disorders (sic), and personality disorder, and testified that she is of the opinion that these predispose [Appellant] to commit acts of sexual violence if he is not civilly committed.

She is also of the opinion that he's dangerous and likely to re-offend to such a degree that it causes a menace to society and that he has significant difficulty controlling his behavior.

(TT, pp. 202-203; R., pp. 202-203). Thus, it is clear the circuit court viewed the directed verdict motion as a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, not the reliability of the diagnosis. Therefore, the issue of whether the biastophilia diagnosis was admissible because it was unreliable is not preserved for appellate review.

### **C. Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder/Biastophilia**

Appellant's argument regarding the validity of Dr. Gehle's biastophilia diagnosis blatantly ignores the DSM-5 discussion of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder, which explains its purpose and the circumstances under which a clinician could use the diagnosis. Recognizing the complexity of mental health disorders cannot be reduced to simple summaries of symptoms covering every situation practitioners face, the DSM-5 authors provided two categories designed to "enhance diagnostic specificity."

To enhance diagnostic specificity, DSM-5 replaces the previous NOS [not otherwise specified] designation with two options for clinical use: *other specified disorder* and *unspecified disorder*. The other specified disorder category is provided to allow the clinician to communicate the specific reason that the presentation does not meet the criteria for any specific category within a diagnostic class. This is done by recording the name of the category, followed by the specific reason. For example, for an individual with clinically significant depressive symptoms lasting 4 weeks but whose symptomatology falls short of the diagnostic threshold for a major depressive episode, the clinician would record “other specified depressive disorder, depressive episode with insufficient symptoms.”

\* \* \* \*

The symptoms contained in the respective diagnostic criteria sets do not constitute comprehensive definitions of underlying disorders, which encompass cognitive, emotional, behavioral and physiological processes that are far more complex than can be described in these brief summaries. Rather, they are intended to summarize characteristic syndromes of signs and symptoms that point to an underlying disorder with a characteristic developmental history, biological and environmental risk factors, neuropsychological and physiological correlates, and typical clinical course.

\* \* \* \*

Although decades of scientific effort have gone into developing the diagnostic criteria sets for the disorders included in Section II, it is well recognized that this set of categorical diagnoses does not fully describe the full range of mental disorders that individuals experience and present to clinicians on a daily basis throughout the world. As noted previously in the introduction, the range of genetic/environmental interactions over the course of human development affecting cognitive, emotional and behavioral function is virtually limitless. As a result, it is impossible to capture the full range of psychopathology in the categorical diagnostic categories that we are now using. Hence, it is also necessary to include “other specified/unspecified” disorder options for presentations that do not fit exactly into the diagnostic boundaries of disorders in each chapter.

\* \* \* \*

Following the assessment of diagnostic criteria, clinicians should consider the application of disorder subtypes and/or specifiers as appropriate. Severity and course specifiers should be applied to denote the individual’s current presentation, but only when the full criteria are met. When full criteria are not met, clinicians should consider whether the symptom presentation meets criteria for an “other specified” or “unspecified” designation.

DSM-5, pp. 15-16, 19, 21 (emphasis in original).

In the DSM-5's paraphilic disorder section, Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder (302.89) is defined as "presentations in which **symptoms characteristic of a paraphilic disorder that cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning predominate** but do not meet the full criteria for any of the disorders in the paraphilic disorders diagnostic class." DSM-5, p. 705 (emphasis added). "The Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder diagnosis is used in situations in which the clinician chooses to communicate the specific reason that the presentation does not meet the criteria for any specific paraphilic disorder," which is done by recording Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder followed by the specific reason (e.g., "zoophilia)." *Id.*

The DSM-V expressly states the Other Specified Paraphilic Disorders examples listed therein are **not** exhaustive. *Id.* Some paraphilias not specifically included in the DSM-5 list, but that can properly be included under the Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder umbrella, are biastophilia, erotic asphyxiation, olfactophilia, emetophilia, kleptophilia, mysophilia, partialism, piquerism and somnophilia.

The very inclusion of Other Specified Paraphilia Disorder in DSM-5, which has been universally accepted as the standard diagnostic handbook used by mental health professionals for more than sixty years, indicates its general acceptance as a valid diagnosis by the mental health community. State v. Daryl W., 19 N.Y.S.3d 396, 398 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2015) (*citing* McGee v. Bartow, 593 F.3d 556 (7th Cir.2010) (Manual highly influential and useful tool); Fuller v. J.P Morgan Chase, 423 F.3d 104 (2d Cir.2005) (finding fourth edition to be "objective authority" on mental disorders; U.S. v. Johnson, 979 F.2d 396 (6th Cir.1992) [taking judicial notice of

Manual); In re Sawyer, 14 Misc.3d 718, 829 N.Y.S.2d 865 (Sup.Ct. Oneida Co. 2006)(recognizing diagnosis from Manual as authoritative).

“DSM diagnoses are generally admissible in court because they are considered by the field of psychiatry to be widely recognized and clinically valid.” State v. Harris, 48 Misc. 3d 950, 12 N.Y.S.3d 762, 770 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2015) (*quoting* Michael B. First, M.D., DSM-5 and Paraphilic Disorders, J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry Law 42; 191–201 [2014]): The mere fact a diagnosis is the subject of debate does not warrant the conclusion that it is not generally accepted; rather, all that is required is the general consensus of acceptance, and even if some experts dispute its legitimacy, the decision to include the diagnosis in the DSM-5 clearly indicates its general acceptance. *Id.* at 769–72. General acceptance does not require that a majority of professions involved in the field subscribe to the conclusion, only that those espousing the theory or opinion have followed generally accepted scientific principles and methodology in evaluating clinical data to reach their conclusions. Daryl W., 19 N.Y.S.3d at 398.

In State v. Shannon S., 20 N.Y.3d 99, 956 N.Y.S.2d 462, 980 N.E.2d 510 (2012), the State's expert psychologist diagnosed the respondent with paraphilia NOS and hebephilia (sexual attraction to pubescent girls below the age of consent).<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals acknowledged at the outset that “certain diagnoses may, of course, be premised on such scant or untested evidence and be so devoid of content, or so near-universal in their rejection by mental health professionals, as to be violative of constitutional due process and preclude their meaningful use

---

<sup>2</sup>Hebephilia is another paraphilia not included in the DSM-5, and hotly contested in the mental health community, but the court concluded it was sufficient to support sexually violent predator commitment.

in civil confinement proceedings.” *Id.* at 514 (internal citations omitted). The Court then expressly excluded paraphilia NOS from that category of suspect diagnoses stating:

Paraphilia NOS, however, has been found to be a viable predicate mental disorder or defect that comports with minimal due process. Furthermore, **any issue pertaining to the reliability of paraphilia NOS as a predicate condition for a finding of mental abnormality has been viewed as a factor relevant to the weight to be attributed to the diagnosis, an issue properly reserved for resolution by the factfinder. Any professional debate over the validity and reliability of paraphilia NOS is subject to the adversarial process which, by vigorous cross-examination, would expose the strengths and weaknesses of the professional medical opinions offered in reaching a considered legal determination as to whether respondent suffers a mental abnormality, as defined by statute.**

*Id.* (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). “[A] mental abnormality “need not necessarily be one so identified in the DSM in order to meet the statutory requirement.””

*Id.* (citing United States v. Carta, 592 F.3d 34, 40 [1st Cir. 2010]).

In this case, Dr. Gehle testified “a paraphilia is really any sexual interest that is outside the norm,” but a paraphilic disorder requires “that intense sexual arousal, urges or behaviors that occur over a period of at least six months, and that have resulted in some sort of problem in the person’s life.” (TT, p. 116, 119; R., pp. 116, 119). She then defined the paraphilic disorder of biastophilia as “sexual arousal towards engaging in sexual acts with nonconsenting persons,” and “[h]aving sex with a nonconsenting person is abnormal.” (TT, pp. 117, 119, 151; R., pp. 117, 119, 151). Contrary to Appellant’s insistence that biastophilia cannot be uniformly defined, Dr. Gehle’s definition of biastophilia appears to be fairly well known and accepted. “Biastophilia and its Latin language-derived counterpart raptophilia, also paraphilic rape, is a paraphilia in which sexual arousal is dependent on, or is responsive to, the act of assaulting an unconsenting person.” Wikipedia, (en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Biastophilia) (viewed May 16, 2018);

see also Urban Dictionary, (<https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=biastophilia>) (same); The Free Dictionary, (<https://encyclopedia.thefreedictionary.com/Biastophilia>) (same).

A biastophilia diagnosis was recently acknowledged in the South Carolina SVPA case of In the Matter of the Treatment and Care of Jeffrey Allen Chapman, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 843 (2017). “According to Dr. Gehle, biastophilia occurs ““when a person experiences recurrent, intense, sexually arousing fantasies, urges or behaviors involving corrosive sexual acts with non-consenting persons over a period of at least six months.”” *Id.* at 845. Significantly, while the validity of the biastophilia diagnosis was not an issue in Chapman, Dr. Gehle defined biastophilia the same way she did in this case.

Taken to its logical conclusion, Appellant’s argument that biastophilia is not a valid mental abnormality for SVPA purposes will effectively preclude the use of **any** paraphilic disorder not specially listed by name in the DSM-5 in **any** type of legal proceeding, regardless of validity, essentially removing the Other Specified and Other Unspecified classifications from the DSM-5 for legal purposes.<sup>3</sup> Since the DSM-5 is the leading authoritative resource for diagnosing mental abnormalities, determining the admissibility or reliability of diagnoses and classifications included in it, without regard to the Other Specified and Other Unspecified classifications, and the discussions about why they were included, and when to use them, significantly reduces the DSM-5’s value as an authoritative source because many legitimate paraphilias and personality disorders will have to be ignored and remain untreated.

---

<sup>3</sup>This case presents a stark example of the horrendous impact such a conclusion would have. Under Appellant’s theory, the State would have no possible way to prevent the release of a person who has repeatedly exhibited sexually deviant behavior, offended against multiple victims, and has had little (or ineffective) sex offender treatment, such as Appellant. This would completely undermine the intent and purpose of the SVPA.

Assuming for argument purposes that some experts question the viability of a biastophilia diagnosis, and two experts looking at the same information can always disagree on a result, that alone does not mandate exclusion of the diagnosis.<sup>4</sup> The biastophilia diagnosis is generally accepted by a consensus of the mental health community. As such it is a legitimate mental abnormality for SVPA purposes, and the jury can weigh the evidence presented on the diagnosis, including the cross-examination, and determine if the expert presenting it was credible and reliable, or completely discount her testimony.

At the directed verdict stage of this trial, the circuit court could only determine there was evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, from which the jury could find Appellant was a sexually violent predator.<sup>5</sup> Dr. Gehle's testimony, including her evaluation methodology, the basis for her diagnoses of biastophilia and antisocial personality disorder, and her reasons for concluding Appellant needed to be confined for long term control, care and treatment, were more than sufficient to support the circuit court's ruling on the directed verdict motion. Therefore, the court's ruling should be affirmed.

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant was free to subpoena any expert who believes the diagnosis is invalid to testify to that effect.

<sup>5</sup>In order to direct a verdict in the case, the circuit court would be required to weigh the unchallenged evidence already in the record, which is inappropriate at the directed verdict stage.

**CONCLUSION**